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I have the honour to refer to your presidential statement of
8 January 1993 (S/25079) in which you requested me to undertake a full
investigation into the killing earlier that day of Mr. Hakija Turajlic,
Deputy Prime Minister for Economic Affairs of Bosnia and Herzegovina, and to
report to the Council without delay.

On 11 January, I appointed a Special Commission of Inquiry to investigate
this incident. The Special Commission was jointly headed by
Sahabzada Yaqub-Khan (Pakistan), former Foreign Minister of Pakistan and
currently serving as my Special Representative for Western Sahara, and
Lieutenant-General Lars-Eric Wahlgren (Sweden), Commander of the United
Nations Interim Force in Lebanon. The Commission of Inquiry convened in
Geneva on 12 January and visited the UNPROFOR mission area from 13 to
15 January 1993. Mr. Yaqub-Khan and General Wahlgren have today submitted to
me their report, which I intend to publish in full (see annex). I shall also
provide a copy of the report to the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina,
through their Permanent Mission here.

Pending publication of the report, I should like to draw your attention
to the following points made by the Commission of Inquiry, which are relevant
to the concerns expressed by members of the Security Council on 8 January 1993:

(a) It is not part of UNPROFOR's mandate as approved by the Security
Council to escort members of the Presidency of the Government of Bosnia and
Herzegovina to and from Sarajevo airport. However, UNPROFOR has provided this
service as a courtesy to the host Government;

(b) The request by the Presidency to UNPROFOR on 8 January 1993 to
provide one armoured personnel carrier (APC) to bring an official delegation
to Sarajevo airport was not in conformity with established procedures. The
notice was very short: the request was made at 1230 hours to transport six
officials from the Presidency to the airport at 1300 hours. The list of the
officials to be transported was not communicated, nor was UNPROFOR aware that
one of the six, Mr. Turajlic, was a Deputy Prime Minister and that he would be
returning to the city alone. Not until the time of the incident itself was
UNPROFOR aware of the identity of the personality being transported;
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(c) As a result of the above, UNPROFOR failed to adhere to the standing
operating procedures normally applied to the escort of civilian VIPs,
including prior reconnaissance, an adequate strength of APCs and special
briefings on the procedures to be followed;

(d) A considerable degree of mistrust surrounds the Sarajevo airport
operation and is exacerbated by Bosnian-Serb suspicions about flights from
certain countries known to be supporting the Government of Bosnia and
Herzegovina. False rumours alleging that 60 "Mujahedin” had been flown in on
the very aircraft Mr. Turajlic had gone to meet had added to the atmosphere of
tension at the Serb check-point that day:

(e) UNPROFOR does not enjoy full freedom of movement in Bosnia and
Herzegovina despite the 5 June 1992 agreement, which provides for security
corridors to be established between the airport and the city under the control
of UNPROFOR. As a result, UNPROFOR's vehicles and APCs are regularly subject
to controls and inspection at check-points manned by all parties to the
conflict in Bosnia and Herzegovina;

(f) On the basis of its inquiries into the specific circumstances
surrounding the incident, the Special Commission concluded that the
assassination was the work of a single assailant acting unilaterally.

In addition to the above points, the Commission makes specific
recommendations relating to various aspects of UNPROFOR's functioning in
Bosnia and Herzegovina, which are being studied by my staff. The full report
will be made available to the Council as soon as it can be translated and
printed (see annex).

(Signed) Boutros BOUTROS-GHALI
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INTRODUCTION

1. The composition of the Special Commission of Inquiry into the
assassination on 8 January 1993 of a Deputy Prime Minister of Bosnia and
Herzegovina, Mr. Hakija Turajlic, convened on the authority of the
Secretary-General of the United Nations, was as follows:

Mr. Sahabzada Yaqub-Khan Co-Chairman
Lieutenant-General Lars-Eric Wahlgren Co-Chairman
Colonel Charles Corberand Member
Colonel Roel Kampman Member

2. The Special Commission was assisted by:

Ms. Leila Benkirane Legal Officer
Mr. Donato Kiniger-Passigli Civil Affairs Officer
Captain Cathal 0'Neill Secretary

3. The Special Commission worked according to the programme attached as
appendix II.

4, The mandate of the Commission was as follows:
(a) To establish the facts and circumstances relating to the incident;

(b) To assess whether the relevant procedures were followed by the
United Nations Protection Force (UNPROFOR) units and personnel concerned:;

’(c) To assess whether those procedures were appropriate to the
circumstances in which UNPROFOR was operating in Sarajevo;

(d) To make appropriate recommendations.
5. The members of the Spa3cial Commission were authorized to make such
contacts as they found necessary with the Government of Bosnia and
Herzegovina, the Bosnian-Serb leadership, the Force Commander of UNPROFOR and
the personnel under his command and any other persons they deemed appropriate.
6. The Commission was required to report to the Secretary-General not later
than 18 January so that he could present the report requested of him by the
Security Council in the President's statement of 8 January (S/25079).

7. The documents on which the inquiry centred and on which the evaluation
was based are as follows:

(a) Mandate of UNPROFOR, in particular Security Council resolutions
743 (1992), 749 (1992), 761 (1992) and 776 (1992);

(b) Guideline standi'g operating procedure;
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(c) UNPROFOR headquarters standing operating procedure;
(d) Bosnia and Herzegovina Command standing operating procedure:;
(e) Sector Sarajevo standing operating procedure;

(£) Unit (Headquarters Company/Sector Sarajevo) standing operating
procedure;

(g) Military Police report annex;
(h) Summaries of briefings and statements as attached.

8. Additional documents were given to the Commission by the officials of the
Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina.

I. GENERAL

A. UNPROFOR mandate and background

9. On 21 February 1992, the Security Council, by its resolution 743 (1992)
approved the establishment of UNPROFOR for a period of 12 months. The Council
confirmed that the Force should be an interim arrangement to create the
conditions of peace and security. In resolution 749 (1992), the Council
authorized the full deployment of the Force.

10. Security Council resolution 761 (1992), of 29 June 1992, provided that
UNPROFOR should ensure the security and functioning of Sarajevo airport and
the delivery of assistance in accordance with the Secretary-General's report
dated 6 June 1992 where it was stipulated that UNPROFOR would

"take over full operational responsibility for the functioning and
security of Sarajevo airport. UNPROFOR would ensure the immediate
security of the airport and its installations, supervise the operation of
the airport (using as far as possible its present civilian employees),
control its facilities and organization, facilitate the unloading of
humanitarian cargo and ensure the safe movement of humanitarian aid and
related personnel.” (S/24075, para. 4)

11. 1In the report of the Secretary-General on Bosnia and Herzegovina dated
10 September 1992 and approved by the Security Council in resolution
776 (1992) UNPROFOR was mandated

“to support UNHCR's efforts to deliver humanitarian relief throughout
Bosnia and Herzegovini and in particular to provide protection, at
UNHCR's request, wher2 and when UNHCR considered such protection
necessary". (S/24540, para. 3)

12. The escorting of officials of the Presidency of Bosnia and Herzegovina is
not based on the mandate of UNPROFOR in Bosnia and Herzegovina but on a

practice which has evolved in the area.
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B. Environment

13. The following features that have characterized the difficult environment
in which UNPROFOR operations have had to be carried out should be kept in mind:

(a) Systematic procedures have been dislocated by frequent shelling,
disturbance of the civic life of cities and the attendant confusion and
disorder;

(b) Many of the freshly arrived units in the area had no experience or
training for peace-keeping operationms;

(c) 1In addition to the complex political and military situation that
prevailed, the interruption of vehicular movement militated against
operational efficiency:

(d) Rapid changes in the situation called for equally rapid changes of
mandate and geographical location of headquarters and redeployment of units
and their logistical support:;

(e) A complicated command structure inhibited flexible operational
control;

(f) The frequency of visits of high authorities and insistent requests
from local authorities for such visits at short notice and without proper
documentation imposed a severe strain on the resources of the command at
various levels and led to errors and omissions, with grave consequences;

(g) The psychological strain on commanders at all levels to solve
operational dilemmas between overreaction and underreaction, with limited
military capability, in a peacemaking or peace-keeping mission must also be
recognized. '

II. FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES RELATING TO THE INCIDENT

14, On 8 January 1993 a Turkish flight, planned and approved by the Office of
the United Nations High Co-missioner for Refugees (UNHCR), landed in Sarajevo

airport at 1500 hours. The UNPROFOR Sector of Sarajevo was requested at

1230 hours by the Presidency of Bosnia and Herzegovina to provide one armoured
personnel carrier (APC) to bring an official delegation to the airport.

15. This request was not in conformity with UNPROFOR procedures. The notice
was too short. The list of people to be transported was not communicated.
However, the request was accepted as a matter of simple routine by the Sector,
which is accustomed to the practice of providing transport to the Presidency.
Furthermore, its attention was not drawn to the identity of Mr. Turajlic.

16. At 1300 hours one APC arrived at the Presidency and transported six
people to the airport without any incident. On its way back to Sarajevo it
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was blocked at 1630 hours at a check-point 400 metres from the airport. This
check-point had just been activated by the Serbs, who had been alarmed by the
arrival of the Turkish aeroplane, which was suspected of transporting armed
mujahidin to fight alongside the Bosnian Muslims. At that time Mr. Turajlic
was the only passenger in the APC. His identity was still unknown to
UNPROFOR. The rest of the Bosnian delegation had boarded the Turkish plane.

17. At the check-point, the APC's crew showed their identification papers as
requested, but the passenger refused to do so. To enable the identity to be
checked the rear doors of the APC had been opened by the crew and reclosed
immediately thereafter. The Operations Room, having been informed, sent the
Serbian Liaison Officer from Sector Headquarters to the spot. He arrived at
1700 hours and stayed five minutes in the APC to confer with Mr. Turajlic, who
showed him his passport.

18. At 1710 hours Colonel Sartre, Commanding Officer of the French Battalion,
arrived at the check-point. He firstly cleared the passage for two United
Kingdom and two Ukrainian APCs, which passed through the check-point. He,
thereafter, did his best to calm down the agitated crowd while blocking the
entrance to the APC, the doors of which could not be closed after the
departure of the Serbian Liaison Officer because of the pressure of the crowd.

19. Simultaneously, Colonel Sartre conducted negotiations with the Serbian
leaders. The tension, at that time, was so high that Colonel Sartre drew his
pistol.

20. During this period he was in radio contact with the Sector Operations
Room. When he learned that the Serbs had cleared the movement of the APC
carrying the Deputy Prime Minister, the tension abated. The Serb leaders at
the check-point had agreed not to try to seize Mr. Turajlic but they had no
radio communications to obtain confirmation of this decision from their own
authorities. Colonel Sartre offered to help the Serbs in establishing the
communication they desired. It was at this moment that a Serb, who had been
in a high state of excitement, fired a burst from his semi-automatic pistol at
Mr. Turajlic over the shoulder of Colonel Sartre, who was still blocking the
entrance to the APC. The comrades of the assailant tried to restrain him from
firing a second time but failed to prevent him from doing so. Mr. Turajlic
collapsed in the APC.

21. Thereafter, the Serbs immediately cleared the road. Mr. Turajlic was
driven to the Sector headquarters hospital, where he was pronounced dead.

22. In describing the above event and in view of the reaction of the Serbian
officers in restraining the assailant, the Commission gained the impression
that the assailant had acted impetuously and on his own initiative in a state
of high agitation.
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III. EXAMINATION OF RELEVANT STANDING OPERATING PROCEDURES

A. Standing operating procedurés in relation to the incident

23. Separate standing operating procedures for escorting high-level civilians
existed in the Sector command headquarters, Sarajevo. These standing
operating procedures include, among others, the following instructions:

(a) Requests for escorting high-level civilians must be forwarded in
writing and be accompanied by a list of persons to be escorted, together with
their identity:

(b) The escort required for this type of operation should be composed of
the following elements: one reconnaissance APC, an escorting and carrying
element of three APCs and, on less than five minutes "standby", a platoon of
vehicles as a '"rapid reaction element";

(c) A briefing should be given to the escort leader on rules of
engagement and other special orders;

(d) The whole escorting operation should be under orders of the

operation cell of headquarters Sector Sarajevo.

B. Compliance with relevant standing operating procedures
by UNPROFOR units and personnel

24, Generally speaking, headquarters Sector Sarajevo apparently did not seem
to consider that the above standing operating procedures were applicable in
this case. More precisely, as the request from the Presidency was not
conveyed properly in writing and was also not accompanied by a list of persons
and their identities, it was not handled as a request for escorting high-level
persons. It was dealt with in routine fashion. The reaction of the Sector
headquarters to a contingency, namely a short-notice demand to transport
Presidency officials was, in the circumstances, as prompt and helpful as
possible. Although this request was approved, it was not followed up
according to the provisions of the standing operating procedures concerning
demands of this kind. 1In effect, this meant that no reconnoitring was made,
that the transporting element was not aware of the identity of the passengers,
that no escorting APCs were assigned and that no special briefing on the
mission was given. Also, the crew did not know that the provisions of the
standing operating procedure that "under no circumstances will the doors of
APCs be opened” had to be observed.

C. General rules on safety of personnel

25, This neglect of the provisions of the standing operating procedures
mentioned above did not preclude that the normal rules of engagement should
apply. These refer to the use of weapons in cases where the safety and lives
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of United Nations personnel and the execution of their mission are
endangered. These rules must be considered as having been followed as far as
possible as is evident from the fact that the crew of the APC loaded their
weapons and showed their intention to use them when the crowd threatened to
use theirs.

IV. REVIEW OF THE INCIDENT ON THE BASIS OF THE MANDATE OF
UNPROFOR IN BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA

A. Mandate of UNPROFOR

26. The mandate of UNPROFOR in Bosnia and Herzegovina (see appendix I) as
clearly described in the relevant reports of the Secretary-General (S/24075
and §/24540), does not provide for the cooperation that has been extended by
UNPROFOR to the Presidency of Bosnia and Herzegovina, namely to escort members
of the Presidency in and out of Sarajevo. Irrespective of the merits of the
case with regard to the incident itself and in order to review thoroughly the
circumstances under which the incident occurred, it is necessary to point out
that the checking of UNPROFOR vehicles and personnel at check-points in
corridors between the airport and the city is inconsistent with:

(a) The agreement signed on 5 June 1992 by all members of the Presidency
of Bosnia and Herzegovina and separately by the Bosnian Serb side on the
reopening of Sarajevo airport for humanitarian purposes as annexed to the
report of the Secretary-General dated 6 June 1992 (S/24075):;

(b) The customary principles and practices of United Nations
peace-keeping or similar operations.

27. Paragraph 9 of the above-mentioned agreement signed on 5 June 1992
provides that:

"G, To ensure the safe movement of humanitarian aid and related
personnel, security corridors between the airport and the city will be
established and will function under the control of UNPROFOR."

However, the above-mentioned agreement is yet to be implemented and the
security corridors referred to therein are not yet under the full control of
UNPROFOR.

28. The absence of such control by UNPROFOR was a major contributing factor
in this tragic incident, which could have been avoided if the above-mentioned
agreement had been properly implemented. The checking imposed on UNPROFOR in
corridors between the airport and the city is therefore unwarranted and should
be protested against. '

29. Moreover, the prevailing practice of subjecting the movement of UNPROFOR
vehicles and personnel to Serbian control at check-point impedes the freedom
of movement that UNPROFOR should enjoy under the customary principles and
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practices of United Nations peace-keeping operations. Provisions to this
effect have been included in the draft agreement between the United Nations
and Bosnia and Herzegovina on the status of UNPROFOR and its personnel.
Although this draft agreement has been extensively negotiated for some
considerable time, it has not yet been signed. Nevertheless, by consenting to
the presence of UNPROFOR, the authorities of Bosnia and Herzegovina implicitly
agree to respect the established practices and principles of United Nations
peace~keeping or similar operations, under which freedom of movement is a
prerequisite for the performance of their tasks.

B. Increase in airport activity and coordination between
UNPROFOR and UNHCR

30. In its resolution 757 (1992) of 30 May 1992, the Security Council
demanded, inter alia, that all parties create the conditions necessary for
unimpeded delivery of humanitarian supplies to Sarajevo and other destinations
in Bosnia and Herzegovina, including the establishment of a security zone
encompassing Sarajevo and its airport.

31, Negotiations on the reopening of Sarajevo airport have been in progress
since mid-May 1992 in view of the crucial importance of this life-line for the
besieged city and for all humanitarian relief operations in Bosnia and
Herzegovina. The agreement for the handing over of the airport to UNPROFOR
was reached on 5 June 1992 on the basis of a cease-fire agreed upon by all
parties on 1 June 1992.

32. The cessation of hostilities was never preserved, but the "humanitarian
airport" became, since its reopening on 29 June 1992, the principal channel
for the supply operations coordinated by UNHCR. As of 15 January 1993, a
total of 2,052 humanitarian flights had landed at Sarajevo airport. In spite
of the fact that the airlift was several times disrupted by the resumption of
hostilities, a significant increase in the airport's activity has taken place
during the past months.

33. Subject to favourable weather conditions, up to 20 UNHCR flights land
daily in Sarajevo, delivering their humanitarian cargo; in addition to that,
UNPROFOR operational flights are also regularly servicing the same airfield.
This escalation of the frequency of the activity at the airport testifies to
the success of the political decision to maintain this life-line. It also
testifies to the extreme dedication of the servicemen involved, who constantly
put their lives at risk because of the uninterrupted hostilities in the
proximity of the airport. UNPROFOR troops have been deliberately targeted by
snipers' fire and by mortar attacks in and around the airport.

34. 1In view of the above situation and given the fact that the airport
security should be accorded the highest priority, the coordination of the air
operations from and into Sarajevo is of the utmost importance. The Commission
learned that UNHCR headquarters in Geneva has a key role in keeping UNPROFOR
abreast of the flight arrangements and their frequency. Owing to the limited
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time-frame of the Commission's investigation, it was not possible to enter
into details of the existing coordination mechanism between UNPROFOR and UNHCR
concerning flight arrangements and schedules. It is, however, the opinion of
the Commission that an ad hoc operational cell should exist in order to ensure
proper communications and the necessary notice for the arrival of each

flight. In the case of the Turkish Airlines aircraft, which landed in
Sarajevo on the day of the assassination, transporting the delegation which
met with the Deputy Prime Minister, notice of this delegation was not given to
UNPROFOR nor was the political sensitivity of the visit of the Turkish
aircraft taken into account. It also appeared that the recommendation of
UNPROFOR B-H Command not to allow aircraft with Turkish and Iranian insignia
to land on Sarajevo airfield was ignored. Sufficient coordination does not
seem to have taken place between UNHCR and UNPROFOR in order to eliminate the
possibility of errors and omissions of the kind that in fact occurred.

V. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

A. Directly related to the incident

35. The importance of establishing and adhering strictly to standing
operating procedures prior to and during escorts is obvious. Whenever any
doubt arises regarding the fulfilment of the requirements of these standing
operating procedures, the Commander concerned should not ignore them without
clearance from a higher level. Similarly, standard United Nations procedures
of "show of force" in order to create a position of advantage to avoid
recourse to "use of force" should also be implemented. In addition, it has
been noted that the procedure of opening the doors of all vehicles to inspect
United Nations property contravenes the spirit of the provisions contained in
Article 105 (1) of the Charter of the United Nations, under which "the
Organization shall enjoy in the territory of each of its Members such
pPrivileges and immunities as are necessary for the fulfilment of its
purposes'. By becoming a Member of the United Nations, Bosnia and Herzegovina
undertook to assume obligations such as those provided for under the
above-mentioned Article of the Charter. Privileges and immunities of the
Organization require inter alia that the property of the United Nations, such
as UNPROFOR vehicles, are not searched.

36. In the worst situation, the device of using hatches instead of doors when
entering or leaving vehicles could provide a flexible solution. The active
support from higher operations centres when incidents occur is absolutely
essential successfully to defuse situations and buttress the morale of the
personnel on the spot.

37. In summary, standing operating procedures based on the guideline standing
operating procedure should be clearly established. Training exercises should
be consistently conducted to cover all aspects of operations and possible
contingencies. This applies not only to units involved in this incident but
also to the proper training and orientation of newly arrived national
contingents. Such prelimiaary preparations would also ensure uniformity of
procedures and reactions throughout the mission, thereby facilitating
day-to-day operations.

VAR




S/25130
English
Page 13

38. In the guideline standing operating procedure, the principle of a "board
of inquiry" is also laid down. Following an incident like this, it is
important that the board-of-inquiry procedures are well known and strictly
implemented. The confidential nature of the board of inquiry must be
respected with regard to the release of information to both parties to a
conflict and also to troop contributors in the wider interest of the security
of United Nations personnel.

39. The complicated nature of command and control and the need to deal with a
variety of agencies enjoying an autonomous status in their functioning are
factors that have contributed to creating an environment that is not
favourable to operational efficiency. Furthermore, the successive build-up of
the mission of UNPROFOR over a short time, with new and extended mandates, and
the establishment of new headquarters have also added to complexity of command
and control. A further review of the command structure, within the resources
that exist in UNPROFOR, is recommended. It was said that, for the Bosnia and
Herzegovina Command, the administrative, legal and political capacity that
would normally comprise a United Nations operation as in Bosnia and
Herzegovina was initially strongly reduced because contributing nations agreed
only to fund their troops, not the overhead costs. Therefore, it is
recommended that timely payment of contributions be made as agreed in future
meetings of the nations concerned.

B. Indirectly related to the incident

40. It has been obvious to the Commission that the incident was influenced by
a high degree of suspicion about activities at the airport, both in relation
to incoming flights and with regard to people crossing the airfield at night.
It was also obvious that a lack of understanding of the UNPROFOR mandate
contributed in no small measure to these misgivings. This highlights the need
for confidence-building measures.

41. The sensitivity of the Serbs concerning activities that they conceive as
hostile to their interest is likely to persist. The establishment of a United
Nations zone around the airfield and stricter control of movement of personnel
into and out of the airfield and more open information concerning activities
there might dispel the apprehension of the Serbs that the airfield was being
used as an "air bridge-head" by the other side. For these reasons the
continuation of the already planned establishment of a United Nations zone
around the airfield is recommended. However, it must also be understood that
this will call for surveillance of the perimeter against infiltration, by
deployment of some troops.

42, As stated in the report of the Secretary-General (S/24075), UNPROFOR is
responsible for the functioning and the security of Sarajevo airport and the
supervision of its operation. The unnotified incoming Turkish aircraft,
approved by UNHCR, had not only humanitarian, but also political and,
consequently, security impiications. It is evaluated that this lack of
coordination between UNPROFOR and UNHCR and disregard for previous
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recommendations concerning the arrival of Turkish aircraft were a major factor
in creating a combination of circumstances that led to the incident. The
Commission therefore recommends a review of the procedures for clearance and
coordination of incoming flights and a strict checking procedure at the
airport. .

43. As already mentioned, the Commission gained the impression that another
unfavourable factor is the lack of knowledge and understanding of the mandate
and activities of UNPROFOR among the authorities. In an area that has been
under Communist control for some 45 years, severe restrictions continue to be
placed on the free flow of information. The use of propaganda and
disinformation continues to prevail throughout the area. There are apparently
51 television and radio stations in Bosnia and Herzegovina alone and people
are "hooked on electronic information". By contrast, UNPROFOR does not have
the means to counterbalance the one-sided nature of the propaganda offensive.
The experience from other peace-keeping operations has shown the value of well
coordinated programmes broadcasting even from small radio stations at the
battalion level. A review of the information system is therefore recommended
to tackle this problem.

C. Summary of conclusions and recommendations

1. Conclusions

44. The arrival of the Turkish airplane and the lack of communication
concerning its arrival contributed to the incident.

45, The lack of adherence to established standing operating procedures
resulted in insufficient information and briefing of the APC crew. This in
turn led to the dispatch of a grossly understrength escort/transport element.
Inadequate information also contributed to a failure to assess the gravity of
the situation when the APC was stopped and reserves or reinforcements were not
called up.

46. The resistance of the parties to facilitate the freedom of movement of
United Nations forces has led to unacceptable check-point procedures, which
impede the mobility of United Natiomns vehicles.

47. The act of assassination appears to have emanated from the unilateral
action of a single assailant.

2. Recommendations
48. The knowledge and training of United Nations personnel with regard to

standing operating procedures, based on the guideline standing operating
procedure, should be increased.

49. United Nations legal procedures (military police report, board of
inquiry, security of persouanel, etc.) should be implemented strictly.
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50. The right of UNPROFOR to enjoy freedom of movement and its implications
for the performance of its tasks should be emphasized.

51. The command and control structure within the peace-keeping force and
coordination with other United Nations agencies should be reviewed.

52. A United Nations zone should be established around Sarajevo airport as
already planned and procedures for the control of activities in the airport
should be reviewed.

53. The United Nations information structure should be improved in order to
inform the local population and parties concerning UNPROFOR mandate and
activities.

/.o'




§/725130
English
Page 16

Appendix I

Mandate of UNPROFOR in Bosnia and Herzegovina

1. The mandate of UNPROFOR in Bosnia and Herzegovina in the context of the
incident at Sarajevo is essentially based on Security Council resolutions
761 (1992) and 776 (1992), dated 29 June and 14 September 1992, respectively.

2. By resolution 761 (1992), the Security Council authorized the
Secretary-General to deploy immediately additional elements of UNPROFOR to
ensure the security and functioning of Sarajevo airport and the delivery of
humanitarian assistance in accordance with his report dated 6 June 1992
(S/24075).

3. By resolution 776 (1992) of 14 September 1992, the Security Council
authorized, in implementation of paragraph 2 of resolution 770 (1992), the
enlargement of UNPROFOR's mandate and strength in Bosnia and Herzegovina
recommended by the Secretary-General in his report dated 10 September 1992
(S/24540) to perform the functions outlined in that report, including the
protection of convoys of released detainees if requested by the International
Committee of the Red Cross. UNPROFOR's functions as described in the report
of the Secretary-General (S/24540) and approved by Security Council resolution
776 (1992) would be to support UNHCR's efforts to deliver humanitarian relief
throughout Bosnia and Herzegovina, and in particular to provide protection, at
UNHCR's request, where and when UNHCR considered such protection necessary.
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Appendix II

Programme of the Special Commission of Inquiry

Tuesday, 12 January 1993

Geneva

3 p.m.

4 p.m.

4.30 p.m.

Wednesday,

Courtesy cal: with Mr. Cyrus Vance and Lord David Owen,
Co-Chairmen of the International Conference on the Former
Yugoslavia

Briefing on Bosnia and Herzegovina Command by Colonel Kampman,
Chief, Bosnia and Herzegovina Operations Field Headquarters,
UNPROFOR in Zagreb

Briefing on prevailing situation in Sarajevo by
Brigadier General Wilson, Liaison Officer, UNPROFOR, to the
International Conference on the Former Yugoslavia

13 January 1993

Zagreb UNPROFOR field headquarters

10.30 a.m.

Introduction by Lieutenant General Satish Nambiar, Force
Commander:;

Briefing on UNPROFOR deployment, mandates, missions and concerns
by Brigadier General Harders, Chief of Staff:

Briefing on political aspects by Mr. Cedric Thornberry, Deputy
Chief of Mission and Director of Civil Affairs

Sarajevo airport

3.40 p.m,

3.45 p.m.

Briefing on the incident by Sector Sarajevo Commander,
Brigadier General Abdul Razek

Briefing by Colonel Sartre, Commanding Officer, French
Battalion 2, Sector Sarajevo, in which he commented on his
written report to the military police on the incident. He was
followed by Major Jackson of Operations Headquarters, Sarajevo
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Ki jak i nd Herz in mmand headquarter
6 p.m. Briefing by:
Major General P. Morillon Bosnia and Herzegovina Commander
Brigadier General Cordy-Simpson COS
Colonel Caspers ACOS G2
Lieutenant Colonel Cornwell Dep ACOS G3

The background, the general situation and the main concerns of
the Bosnia and Herzegovina Command were presented.

Thursday, 14 January 1993

raj irpor

9 a.m. Brief meeting with General Morillon

Lukovica

10.10 a.m. Meeting with Serb representatives:
Mr. Milenko Bjelica Ministry of Justice
Mr. Nikola Milanovic Criminal Investigator
Mr. Radko Kapetanovic Ministry of Internal Affairs
Mr. Injic Micenko Army Officer of the so-called

"Republika Srpska"

The Serbs gave their version of the incident. They stressed
their intention to abide by the law but did not know which kind
of jurisdiction, civilian or military, would apply. They stated
that United Nations representatives could attend the trial of
the suspect.

rajev ffice of the Presiden
2.20 p.m., Meeting with President Izetbegovic on general subjects

concerning the relations with UNPROFOR, its mandate and
questions related to the incident.

3.25 p.m. Meeting with members of the Government and high authorities:
Mr. Lagumdzija Deputy Prime Minister
Mr. Pujina Minister of Internal Affairs
Mr. Alispanich Deputy Minister of Internal
Affairs '
Mr. Pashich Representative of the Minister

of Foreign Affairs
The full involvement of the Bosnia and Herzegovina Government
was requested as well as an immediate meeting between their

experts and members of the Commission.
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Friday, 15 January 1993

Sarajevo Sector headquarters - PTT building Sarajevo

10.40 a.m.

Sarajevo,

The Commission gquestioned:

- The French Crew Chief of the armoured personnel carrier (APC)
in which the Deputy Prime Minister was killed

- The soldier escorting the Deputy Prime Minister in the APC

- The APC's driver

Ministry of Internal Affairs

12 noon

3 p.m.

The Commission met:

Mr. Yusuf Pujina : Minister of Internal Affairs

Mr. Petric Pero Assistant to the Minister of Internal
Affairs

Mr. Stanic Ivica State Prosecutor

Mr. Popanic Micorad High Court Judge

Mr. Alispahic Bahir Head of Sarajevo Police

They requested again that the inquiries be conducted jointly by
the Special Commission and their experts. They in particular
requested that UNPROFOR peace-keepers involved in the incident

~ remain in Sarajevo as long as they might need them for

investigation.

Departure from Sarajevo
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Appendix III
Summaries of briefings
A. Briefing by Colonel Kampman, Chief, Bosnia and Herzegovina

operations, UNPROFOR Headquarters, Zagreb, on the Bosnia

and Herzegovina Command
1. Colonel Kampman presented the mission, the organization, the chain of

command and the deployment of UNPROFOR in Bosnia and Herzegovina. He raised
the question of providing escort to UNHCR convoys in the eastern part of
Bosnia and Herzegovina where no UNPROFOR units were deployed and consequently
the Sarajevo Sector had to assist in escorting.

2. He stressed also the fact that in Bosnia and Herzegovina UNHCR was the
leading agency and that the mission of UNPROFOR was to provide protection to
the convoys.

B. Briefing by Brigadier General Wilson, Liaison Officer,
UNPROFOR, to the International nferen n the Former
Yugoslavia, on the prevailing situation in Sarajevo

3. Brigadier General Wilson pointed out the existing confrontation line
between the warring factions and the situation of the Presidency in Sarajevo,
which was besieged by the Bosnian Serbian Army.

4, That confusing situation rendered any negotiations between the different
parties difficult.

C. Briefing by UNPROFOR staff: Lieutenant General Nambiar,
Force Commander, Brigadier General Harders, Chief of
Staff, and Mr Thornberr D t hief of Mission
and Director of Civil Affairs

5. UNPROFOR successively presented the organization of the mission and the
political aspects of the situation.

6. In the first part of :-he briefing a historical background to UNPROFOR was
presented. The Chief of S:aff dealt with the different mandates carried out
by UNPROFOR including the :asks in Croatia (Security Council resolutions

743 (1992) and 749 (1992)), the mandate for Sarajevo airport (resolution

758 (1992)) and that for the protection of the convoys in Bosnia and
Herzegovina (resolution 776 (1992)).
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7. The Deputy Chief of Mission gave a comprehensive and exhaustive
description of the political implications of the UNPROFOR deployment in the
mission area. He stressed how dynamic the situation was in consideration of
the several extensions of the mandate. In that context, he also pointed out
that the UNPROFOR strength had expanded up to the present 24,000 troops, which
made it the largest United Nations peace-keeping mission ever. He then
depicted the situation in Sarajevo, which had evolved dramatically since the
fighting began in April 1992. Sarajevo had been, before the war, a complex,
multi-ethnic community. In the course of the conflict, Serbs, in particular,
had sought to divide and polarize it. When the UNPROFOR deployment had taken
place, the attitude of the people had initially been of joy and exhilaration,
which later became disappointment. The expectations were different from what
the mandate prescribed. UNPROFOR, in fact, never had the mandate, nor the
force, to rescue the people. As far as airport control was concerned, the
Serbs were more comfortable with UNPROFOR being in charge of it, while the
Presidency forces were more suspicious about it. The discrepancy between the
realistic mandate of UNPROFOR and the higher popular expectations produced a
gap in confidence which was highly exacerbated by the role of the media.

8. On the subject of the current political and military situation in Bosnia
and Herzegovina, he pointed out that the Presidency forces were at present on
the offensive, while the Croats had consolidated their presence and the Serbs
wanted to hold on to what they had gained. Presidency forces were the most
active because they wanted to regain some of the territories they had lost on
the battleground. It was, therefore, the Presidency side which now tried to
"destabilize the stability" and regain territory. Infantry attacks of the
Presidency forces had caused the immediate response of the Serb counterpart.
The massive disproportion of the Serb reaction was noticeable because of their
overwhelming fire-power.

9. He concluded by analysing the role of UNPROFOR in light of the peace
talks of the Geneva Conference on the Former Yugoslavia. UNPROFOR was the
mediator in the midst of the civil war and was expected to provide stability.
All in all, it was a complicated picture where racist forces were on the
offensive and hard-liners prevailed. UNPROFOR was generally accepted as an
impartial force but its men were taking heavy risks in the accomplishment of
their daily missions.

D. Briefing by Brigadier General Abdul Razek, Sector
Commander Sarajevo

10. Brigadier General Razek gave a briefing on the incident and focused on
the sequence of events and related timing. He stressed that that particular
escort request had been given at very short notice, contrary to existing
procedures. Those procedures included a list of the people to be transported,
which on that occasion had not been provided by the Presidency.
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E. Briefing by Colonel Sartre, Commanding Officer, French
Battalion 2, Sector Sarajevo

11. Colonel Sartre gave a verbal outline of his written report (see

appendix IV). He stressed that, at the time he arrived at the Serbian
check-point, his two major concerns were (a) to protect the people transported
in the APC; and (b) to try to reduce the tension.

12. He stated that he had not been ordered to go on the spot but had gone on
his own initiative because he had heard on the radio network that there were
some problems at that location. After his arrival he had seen a number of
vehicles stopped in line at the check-point. Those vehicles included two
United Kingdom and two Ukrainian APCs, which he cleared through the
check-point. He did not know that the APC at the front contained the Deputy
Prime Minister.

13. The remaining APC did not belong to his battalion but to the Headquarters
Company of Sector Sarajevo. He had not called for the assistance of other
APCs so as not to exacerbate the tension, which was high. All the time he had
been in radio contact with the Sector Sarajevo Operations Room.
Simultaneously, he was negotiating with the Serb Commanders on the spot.

Those Serbian officers had included one Brigade and two Battalion Commanders.
While the negotiations were still under way to decrease tension, a Serb,
present in the crowd, all of a sudden had shot Mr. Turajlic, who all the time
had remained in the back of the APC.

F. Briefing by Major Jackson, Operations Officer,
Headquarters Sector Sarajevo

14. Major Jackson stated that at the time of the incident he was just handing
over his duty, and was under pressure because of the number of tasks the
office had received, and because of the lack of resources with which he had to
perform those tasks.

15. In the light of those circumstances and the very short notice of the
request, the appropriate procedures had not been followed on that occasion.
The Operations Room which provided the APC did not know that the Deputy Prime
Minister was among the officials to be transported.

G. Meeting held on Thursday, 14 January 1993, with members
of the Bosnia and Herzegovina Government (Presidency)

16. The Presidency officials greeted the Commission and the Deputy Prime
Minister expressed confidence in the investigation carried out by the team.
They stressed how, in their view, UNPROFOR was adopting a "tolerant approach
toward the aggressors". According to the Presidency officials, UNPROFOR
should take a different course of action from the present one.
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17. The Commission explained the nature of its mission and mandate. It was
pointed out that eventual corrective actions would be an integral part of the
Commission's recommendations. The officials indicated their deep interest in
the findings of the Commission and they were informed that the Commission's
report would be transmitted to the Secretary-General at the end of the week.
The officials insisted on a joint investigation of the assassination. The
Minister of Internal Affairs told the Commission about the intention of
bringing the case'before a court of law of his country. He also rejected the
idea of a trial conducted by the Serb authorities and observed that the
assassination was an act of terrorism. The Commission pointed out that that
position raised a serious matter of jurisdiction, which lay outside the scope
of the terms of reference of the Commission. General Abdul Razek, Commanding
Officer, Sector Sarajevo, emphasized that, contrary to recognized practice,
the request had been made on an urgent basis and no identification of the
officials concerned had been provided to UNPROFOR.

H. M in 1 n Th r 1 nuar with
“R 1 2 k "
_(_r_e_te___e_cl_tg__e_r_e_;_a_t.e.us_me_se_tb.ﬁ“ )

18. Referring to the incident, the Serbs expressed their regrets and
confirmed that the killing had indeed been committed by a Serb.

19. They said that it was not yet clear whether the assassination had been
committed by a civilian or a soldier. Until that point was clarified,
investigations were being conducted by their civilian authorities. Those
authorities were investigating the status of the murderer (civilian or
military) and the circumstances under which the murder had been committed,
especially whether the killing had resulted from a provocative act. The Serbs
indicated that facts could not be communicated and conclusions could not be
reached until they had heard both sides and seen the testimony of all
witnesses. On that basis a trial could take place in accordance with Serbian
laws and requlations. In answer to the Commission's question regarding those
laws and the sources from which they were derived, the Serbian delegation
replied that the laws were based on the Serbian Constitution inherited by the
"Republika Srpska" as the legal successor of the Yugoslav Republic. In answer
to the question whether the trial would be civil or military, the Serbs
confirmed that, for the time being, it seemed that it would be civilian,
although the status of the murderer remains to be clarified.

20. The Serbian version of the facts surrounding the incident is as follows.
The arrival of a Turkish delegation in Sarajevo stirred serious suspicions
arising from the apprehension of the infiltration of the "mujahidins" on the
side of the Bosnian Muslims. Although arrivals of planes at the airport were
usually notified to the Serbs, the arrival of the Turkish plane, as well as
the escorting of the Deputy Prime Minister by UNPROFOR to the airport, had not
been notified to them. The absence of such a notification heightened
misgivings and suspicions. The checking of the UNPROFOR vehicle transporting
the Deputy Prime Minister was, therefore, necessary to ascertain whether any
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Turkish delegation was in the vehicle with him. When the vehicle was stopped,
the Serbs had requested that identification cards be presented and that the
rear door of the APC be opened. UNPROFOR personnel in charge of the vehicle
presented their identification cards and opened the rear door to ask the
Deputy Prime Minister to present his identification. However, the latter
refused to show any identification (in his case, a passport) and started
shouting at and insulting the Serbs. Moreover, the Deputy Prime Minister made
a movement which gave the impression that he might be pulling out a pistol.
That gesture had provoked preventive action on the part of a Serb and led to
the killing of the Deputy Prime Minister. The Serbians said that if

Mr. Turajlic had shown his identification papers to the personnel at the
check-point there would not have been a problem.

21. At the request of the Commission, the Serbs said that no official Serbian
Commander was present and that the check-point was a permanent one. The
Commission pointed out that, according to UNPROFOR, the check-point was not a
permanent one and asked why the Serbs had considered it necessary to check
UNPROFOR movements at that point. In that respect, the Commission referred to
the agreement which had been reached between UNPROFOR and all parties
concerned under which security corridors between the airport and the city
should have been established under the control of UNPROFOR. The Serbs
indicated that the checking was necessary in order to prevent the infiltration
of "mercenaries" in the territory. They emphasized that Bosnian officials
were taking advantage of UNPROFOR's mandate by requesting that they be

escorted. Under such circumstances the Serbs confirmed that checking UNPROFOR
was necessary.

I. Meeting hel n Thursda 14 January 1993, with the
President of Bosnia and Herzegovina

22, The Commission expressed deep regrets that the area where the incident
had taken place was not yet under UNPROFOR control as had been agreed between
UNPROFOR and all parties concerned, and that the request made by the
Presidency to UNPROFOR to escort Bosnian officials had not been made in
accordance with established procedures. The Commission recalled that, under
the relevant procedure, requests to UNPROFOR should be timely and accompanied
by a list identifying the Bosnian officials. That had not been done.
Contrary to that procedure, the request had been made on an urgent basis and
no list had been provided to UNPROFOR. The Commission specified that the
absence of the required information militated against the ability of UNPROFOR
to carry out its task. The Commission indicated that the cooperation extended
by UNPROFOR to the Presidency required reciprocity.

23. The President comment2d on the incident by expressing his regrets at the
murder of the Deputy Prime Minister and at the fact that UNPROFOR did not,
according to him, provide immediate and additional protection while the
checking by the Serbs was taking place.
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24, The Commission expressed regrets on the negative approach that the local
media had had with regard to UNPROFOR's mandate and the way UNPROFOR was
carrying out its difficult tasks, especially after the last incident. Despite
the deeply regretted incident, the Commission stated that the Presidency and
UNPROFOR should keep their good cooperation established and the population of
Bosnia and Herzegovina should have a good understanding of that cooperation
and of UNPROFOR's mission and labour. The media should assist in a positive
way in establishing that understanding.

25. It was the view of the President that the presence of UNPROFOR was highly

desirable and was fulfilling a salutary function.

J. Meeting held on Friday, 15 January 1993, with members of
the Bosnia and Herzegovina Government (Presidency)

26. Further to the request made by the Presidency during the meeting held on
14 January 1993 that the investigation be a joint one, the Commission began
the meeting by providing further clarification of the nature and purpose of
its mandate.

27. The mandate of the Commission, which had to report directly to the
Secretary-General, did not admit of the concept of a joint investigation.

28. Members of the Presidency indicated that, under the local laws, witnesses
of UNPROFOR should be interrogated and, in the absence of such interrogation,
no conclusions could be reached on the Bosnian side. There were points on
which the Bosnians would need clarifications. In that respect, they indicated
that several vehicles had been behind the UNPROFOR APC in which the Deputy
Prime Minister was shot, and wondered why those vehicles had left the scene
shortly after the checking started.

29. The insistence of the Presidency on the conduct of a joint investigation
was duly reported to Mr. M. Goulding, Under-Secretary-General for
Peace-keeping Operations, in a facsimile dated 15 January 1993 (see
attachment I; Mr. Goulding replied that he approved the line taken by the
Special Commission).

30. Notwithstanding all the efforts made by the Commission to convince the
members of the Presidency, they firmly maintained their position.
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Attachment I
Fagsimile dated 15 January 1993 from the Co-Chairmen of
h mmission of Inquir re Mr, M lding,
nder— r ry-General for P -k in rations -

For your information, during the course of our discussions today with the
Presidency of Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Minister of Interior was very
insistent that our deliberations as a Commission of Inquiry be conducted
jointly with the Presidency. The implications of this request were that they
would wish to interrogate UNPROFOR witnesses with regard to the incident. We
pointed out that the terms of reference of the Commission did not admit of a
concept of a joint inquiry. Nor could we share with them the findings and
conclusions of the Commission, which have to be submitted in a report directly
to the Secretary-General. Nevertheless, they kept on insisting on the concept
of a joint Commission and we reassured them that their position will be duly
conveyed to the Secretary-General. However, the concept of a joint Commission
continued to be the main subject of the discussion. I brought to their
attention the United Nations practice in the context of board of inquiry,
which involves security of United Nations personnel. Nevertheless the
Minister of Interior maintained his position that the Commission should be a
joint one and at this point we advised that the Presidency could convey its
position directly to the Secretary-General through the Permanent
Representative of Bosnia and Herzegovina, New York. The Minister of Interior

stated that this was his intention. We found it necessary to bring the above
to your attention the soonest.
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Appendix IV

Memorandum dated 14 January 1993 from lonel Patrice Sartre,
ommandin fficer, French B alion, concernin he
ssassination of Mr. Hakija Turajlic at the § rbian Nedarici

check-point

1. On 8 January 1993, at 1831 hours, Mr. Hakija Turajlic, Deputy Prime
Minister of Bosnia and Herzegovina, was shot by a Serbian soldier inside the
UNPROFOR vehicle that was transporting him and was blocked at a Serbian
check-point. The present memorandum reports the circumstances of and the
reasons behind this dramatic incident.

1. Statement of the facts

2. Before the beginning of the incident, French Bat 2 did not receive any
information about the travel of any Bosnian officials or Turkish delegation in
its area of responsibility. Having noticed the presence of a Turkish C130 on
the aeroplane parking, the French Bat 2 Commanding Officer sent his
Intelligence Officer and a Military Police in order to inform him about the
content and the passengers of the aircraft.

3. Around 1630 hours, the French Bat 2 Operations Room could hear through
the radio net IC (HQ company net), that a headquarters Sarajevo company's APC
had been blocked at the Serbian Nedarici check-point, because of its passenger
who was not able to present a regular pass or United Nationms identification
card. This kind of incident is rather frequent in Sarajevo.

4. ‘Listening to the net, French Bat 2 realized that headquarters was aware
of the situation and already handling it. For this reason, French Bat 2 was
only listening carefully to the radio net so long as it was reported (1645)
that one of its APCs was blocked at the same check-point, and the Serbs were
intending to arrest one Muslim member of the local staff of the battalion
although he had a reqular United Nations identification card. Then the French
Bat 2 Commanding Officer went to the place (1710) and secured the departure of
his APC and the local staff member. He secured as well the departure of two
United Kingdom APCs blocked because of their Muslim passengers (UNHCR drivers)
and finally the departure of two Ukrainian APCs.

5. At this moment, the Serbian Liaison Officer in the Sarajevo headquarters,
sent on the spot to try to handle the case, had already left, and the

French Bat 2 Commanding Officer, knowing nothing about the APC passenger's
jdentity and about his right to be transported by the United Nations, was
facing 2 “Famos" APCs and about 50 soldiers carrying RPGs, Kalachnikovs and
various automatic weapons. These men informed the Commanding Officer that the
passenger was Mr. Hakija Turajlic, the Deputy Prime Minister of Bosnia and
Herzegovina and that he was coming back from the airport where he had met a
Turkish delegation that had arrived by a UNHCR plane. Afterwards the
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information turned out to be correct. They added that 60 mujahidin had
disembarked from the aeroplane and entered the city; this was fanciful
information.

6. The French Bat 2 Commanding Officer noticed that the APC crew was
composed of only one sergeant and two soliders. He then understood how
dangerous the situation was and decided to stay on the spot. He transmitted
the situation to the French Bat 2 Operations Room, to be reported to
headquarters, and asked for a higher-level action in order to secure the
release of the headquarters company APC.

7. Simultaneously he tried to have a local negotiation. Although he
personally knew all the local commanders present at the check-point (the
commanders of the Ilidza Brigade, of the Nedarici and Airport Settlement
Battalions) the talks quickly became very difficult. The Commanding Officer
was accused of having helped in the transportation of the Turks into the

city. When the Ilidza Brigade Commander stated he would take the Deputy Prime
Minister by force, the Commanding Officer took his gun out, armed it, went to
and stood in front of the APC rear entrance; he placed his interpreter inside
a light armoured vehicle, under his driver's protection, and requested the
Serbian soldiers to move backwards from the APC, targeting them. They did and
formed, several metres away, a semicircle with two RPGs and five Kalachnikovs
aimed at the Commanding Officer. The tension remained very high for about

20 minutes but, in this unpleasant situation, the talks went on and the
Commanding Officer remained in radio liaison with the French Bat 2 Operations
Room so that it could inform him about the negotiations at the higher level.

8. When the French Bat 2 Commanding Officer realized that the decision to
let the Deputy Prime Minister go had been got at this level, the Ilidza
Brigade Commander agreed not to take the Minister and to wait for orders. The
Serbian weapons were lowered and the Commanding Officer put his gun back in
its holster. But the Brigade Commander could not be brought into contact with
his own commanders, because of his lack of radio means. The French Bat 2
Commanding Officer then ordered (1827) that a radio vehicle be sent to the
Serbian Corps in Lukavica, in order to provide communications for the Serbian
chain of command. At the same time he proposed to the Ilidza Brigade
Commander to close the APC's door. At that very moment two very upset Serbian
soldiers tried to pull the Commanding Officer away from the entrance. The
Serbian commanders stopped them. One of them, realizing that he would not
succeed, stepped back, held a gun of large calibre and shot, above the
Commanding Officer's shoulder, at Mr. Hakija Turajlic, crouching in the front
part of the APC. Pulled back by his comrades, he got away and again fired
several bullets (1831), the commanders shouting "No, no! Stop, stop!".

9. Obviously frightened Ly what had just happened, the Serbian commanders
immediately opened the road in order to allow the medevac. The French Bat 2
Commanding Officer drove the man to the headquarters Military Hospital, where
he was pronounced dead.
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2. Reasons for the incident

10. The main reason for the incident was a botched design of the
transportation of the high-level politician, without clearance, without an
escort and without any information from the authorities supposed to be in
charge of the preparation and the protection of such a movement. This lack of
preparation directly created the crisis situation, depriving the relevant
personnel of the information and the means to handle it. The airport
commander had not been informed about the arrival of the Bosnian politician,
nor had the French Bat 2 Commanding Officer been informed about this travel
through his area of responsibility. Even the duty officer in headquarters
Sarajevo was not aware of the identity of the passenger.

11. The second reason for the incident was the lack of the Serbian
commanders' control over their soldiers made upset by the presence of the
Turkish aeroplane at the airport. A meeting, on the airport, between the
Bosnian government and any official from a Muslim country has constantly been
seen by the Serbs as a violation of the 5 June agreement, and it probably is.

12. Then the last reason was the unexpected act of a hotheaded soldier
realizing he would lose the passenger of the APC.

13, The murder could have been avoided if the APC's door had been closed. It
had been opened before the Commanding Officer's arrival in order to allow the
Serbian liaison officer to identify Mr. Turajlic and to talk with him. The
Serbs did not allow it to be closed after his departure.

14. When he arrived on the spot, the French Bat 2 Commanding Officer 4id not
know who the man inside the APC was and he began to take care of the local
staff he knew: airport heating system workers and UNHCR drivers. When he was
informed (by the Serbs) about the identity of the Deputy Prime Minister, he
had already sent away all the other APCs and the most important thing was not
to increase the tension; he did not agree to get any reinforcement proposed by
the French Bat Commanding Officer because, although his main purpose was not
to allow the Serbs to take Mr. Hakija Turajlic, his main concern was to avoid
a battle between United Nations and Serbian forces that would have probably
killed at the same time the passenger and his guards.

15. 1In conclusion, the French Bat 2 Commanding Officer considers that the
murder was the result of an unexpected action of an uncontrolled soldier,
carried out because of the bad and tense atmosphere created by the presence of
the Turkish aeroplane and made possible because of such a non-professional
preparation of a high-level politician's travel.
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Appendix V

r f interviews with th rew of the APC involv

1. The Committee had decided to concentrate the questioning so as to clarify:

(a) 1If there had been an identifiable commander at the Serb check-point
when the incident occurred;

(b) If the Deputy Prime Minister had showed his identification papers:
(c) If his reaction and conduct could be accurately described;

(d) By whom and when the back doors of the APC had been opened;

(e) If and how movement of the APC had been blocked:

(f) If other tactical options had been considered.

A. rgean rea N in charge of the AP

2. Sergeant Cerea said that there had been no obvious check-point Commander
when the APC had been stopped and the incident occurred. The French crew, in
accordance with their standing operating procedure, showed their
identification to the Serbian personnel at the check-point but the passenger,
the Deputy Prime Minister, had refused to show any form of identification.
Nor was the Sergeant aware of his identity as he had received no list of
officials prior to departure. When the APC stopped, Sergeant Cerea had
dismounted and opened the rear door to permit identification of the personnel
inside. The Sergeant had instructed the soldier inside the APC to close and
lock the doors immediately after he had shown his identification card. That
had been done. Sergeant Cerea, being outside the APC at that stage, had not
been in a position to comment on Mr. Turajlic’'s reaction inside the APC. The
doors remained locked until the arrival of the Serbian Liaison Officer, who
was dispatched from the Sector Sarajevo headquarters (PTT building) following
a radio report from Sergeant Cerea to Operations PTT building. On his
arrival, the Serbian Liaison Officer was allowed access to the APC and the
doors were relocked behind him. He stayed inside the APC for approximately
five minutes. When the soldier inside had opened the door to allow the
Liaison Officer out of the APC, the large crowd which had congregated
prevented the doors from being reclosed and the crowd immediately surrounded
the Liaison Officer. Sergeant Cerea related that the Liaison Officer had a
discussion primarily with four men, one of whom, he said, was very agitated.
Sergeant Cerea also confirmed that, under the threat of anti-tank weapons, the
contents of some packages belonging to Mr. Turajlic which were in the back of
the APC had been searched. They were found to contain some cigarettes.
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3. It was at that stage that Colonel Sartre, Commanding Officer French
Battalion 2, arrived at the rear of the APC with Sergeant Cerea. Mr. Turajlic
and the soldier were in the rear.

4, Sergeant Cerea said the crowd was not aware of Mr. Turajlic's identity
and he heard the word "Turkish" emanating repeatedly from the crowd. He
himself could not confirm whether the passenger (Mr. Turajlic) carried any
identification papers; nor was he aware of the passenger's identity until his
return to base after the incident.

5. When asked if it would have been possible to withdraw from the scene of
the incident at any stage, Sergeant Cerea said that initially his APC had been
blocked from the rear by six or seven United Nations vehicles, including two
United Kingdom and two Ukrainian APCs. When those vehicles were permitted to
pass through the check-point, Sergeant Cerea found that his APC had been
blocked from the rear by a Serbian APC.

B. Private (First Class) Greener - soldier in rear of APC

6. Private Greener was the soldier positioned inside the APC. As such he
was not aware if there was a check-point Commander. He was not aware of the
identity of the person they were transporting. He said that the passenger
became very agitated as soon as he realized that they might be stopped at the
check-point. After the APC was stopped the Sergeant in charge

(Sergeant Cerea) came to the back door and asked Private Greener to open the
door to show his identification card to the Serbian soldiers. He did so and
he told the Sergeant that the passenger refused to show his identificationm.
Private Greemer then closed the doors and all windows and hatches. He

emphasized that the passenger was by then extremely distressed and was
eventually moved to tears.

7. When the Serbian Liaison Officer arrived he was admitted into the APC and
Private Greener relocked the doors. The Liaison Officer remained in the APC
for about five minutes and as the conversation with the passenger was in
"Yugoslavian', the soldier did not know what was said. He saw that the
passenger presented his passport to the Liaison Officer. Private Greener said
that, when the Liaison Officer wanted to depart, he reopened the door.
Suddenly both rear doors were pulled open by the crowd. He immediately
brought his weapon to the shoulder and warned the crowd to back off. They
insisted on examining the boxes inside the APC. Initially, Private Greener

refused to allow them to do so but they were subsequently searched and some
cigarettes were found.

8. About 15 minutes thereafter the French Battalion Commander

(Colonel Sartre) arrived on the scene. Private Greener related that the
people outside the vehicle were very agitated. The situation was very grave
and he could not observe any blue helmets in the vicinity. He felt isolated
and in danger of being killed. The United Nations vehicles which had earlier
been present had driven away and there seemed to be no reinforcements
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arriving. He said that the identity of the passenger was not known to him
until he returned to base. He also said that, despite the passenger's
agitation, he did not make any movements or say anything to insult anyone.

C. Private (First Class) Delberg - driver of APC

9. Private Delberg related that, owing to his position in the front of the
APC and separate from the passenger compartment, he was only partly aware of
the activities in the back. He said that the check-point was well manned,
with approximately 30 persons, from the beginning and that he was blocked and
could not drive away or pull out.
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Appendix VI

UNPROFOR Military Police report dated 14 January 1993
on the murder of Mr. Hakija Turaijlic

1. On 8 January 1993, our office was informed by the medical team that a man

was in the hospital. He was killed by bullets. It was 1930 hours when we
were informed.

2. An investigation commenced immediately by the undersigned.
3. The Military Police Platoon Commander was informed immediately.
4. The following appear to be the facts:

(a) On 8 January 1993, three French soldiers had to escort six persons
from the Presidency to the airport:

(b) After arriving at the airport, they had to wait for the landing of a
Turkish aircraft at 1510 hours;

(c) Five persons went on board the plane and one man stayed:
Mr. Hakija Turajlic;

(d) This man put a lot of packets in the APC and asked the Commander to
go to the PTT building because a car was waiting for him;

(e) After 300 metres the APC was stopped by'a soft-skinned armoured
vehicle from the Serbian side army. There were approximately 15 Serbian
soldiers and they asked to check the identity of the passengers;

(f) The civilian passenger refused to give his passport;

(g) At 1645 hours, Colonel Sartre was informed that one of his APCs was
also blocked on the road;

(h) At 1710 hours Colonel Sartre succeeded to evacuate the United

Kingdom and Ukrainian vehicles and also one of his APCs was blocked by the
Serbian soldiers;

(i) The intervention of Colonel Sartre was first of all to quiet down
the Serbian soldiers who now numbered about 50;

(3j) At 1700 hours, the Serbian Liaison Officer went to the check-point.
After a brief discussion with the Deputy Prime Minister, the Liaison Officer
came back to PTT, to take the admission paper for the passenger;

(k) It was when he arrived on the spot and after the departure of the

other vehicles that Colonel Sartre was informed about the passenger's identity;
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(1) After the Serbians' threat, he took his gun and went in front of the
back APC;

(m) After many words, the Serbians moved back and the tension grew
higher;

(n) The permission for the Deputy Prime Minister to go on was given. On
the other hand, the Serbian soldiers could not have any liaison with their
headquarters:;

(o) At 1830 hours two Serbians from militia tried to push
Colonel Sartre. Another Serbian officer tried to keep them away but one of
them took his gun and shot several times on the Deputy Prime Minister;

(p) 1In spite of the intervention of the Serbian officer, the man shot
again on the passenger:;

(g) The Serbian forces were shocked by this act and allowed the APC to
go to the hospital. First aid was administered by First Class Greener;

(r) When they arrived in the hospital, the Deputy died:

(s) In the hospital pictures were taken. The local police and forensic
pathologist arrived at 2230 hours and Dr. Ililas examined the corpse; '

(t) Three bullets we:e discovered and seized by the local police;

(u) With the local police we examined the APC and seized two bullets in
the door of the engine:

(v) We checked the clothes and the wallet with the local police and
there was no identification card or passport in the wallet of the Deputy:

(w) On 8 January 1993, Captain Lordon and Sergeant Lacaille and the
undersigned went to the press conference with General Morillon and
Colonel Sartre. The Colonel was interrogated after by the Military Police.
At two o'clock in the afternoon, Sergeant Cerea and First Class Greener were
also interrogated by Military Police.

Establishment and measurements

5. On 9 January the local police, represented by Mr. Petar Petric, Director
of Criminal Investigation, gave us a lot of pictures of Serbian people to
present those to the French soldiers. The photographs given by the local
police were shown to the APC crew, but without any results. The photos from
the local police were also shown to Colonel Sartre in an attempt to identify
the shooter but without any results.

6. On 10 January 1993, the Military Police Commander gave the copy of
Colonel Sartre's statement to the local police. The packets which were in the
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APC were checked. In two different boxes local police seized two cartridge
cases. The calibre is 9 mm and on the base of the cartridge case there is
writing in the Cyrillic alphabet.

7. On 11 January 1993, the Military Police Commander gave copies of the
statements of the three French soldiers, but without identity.

8. With Sergeant Lacaille, I went to the spot to take pictures of the scene
and to try to find with a metal detector some cartridge cases which could
confirm the fact that the two cartridges that were seized by the police are
the same as those near the APC's location. On the road 8 cartridges and

1 cartridge case were found. Two Serbian military policemen were on the spot

when we arrived.
9. Statements were obtained from:
Colonel Sartre
Sergeant Cerea
First Class Greener
First Class Delberg
10. There are some details which are not clear for now:

(a) At what time the APC's door was opened;

(b) Nobody can explain how the passport was in the hands of the Serbian
soldier;

(c) It could be useful for us to have the statement of the Serbian
Liaison Officer who was on the spot.

11. This concludes my report.

(Signed) §S. Sergeant SERRIER
Military Police Platoon Leader
Sarajevo




